
Find out more online:
www.worcestershire.gov.uk

This document can be provided in alternative formats such as Large Print, an audio recording or 
Braille; it can also be emailed as a Microsoft Word attachment. Please contact Democratic 

Services on telephone number 01905 843579 or by emailing 
democraticServices@worcestershire.gov.uk.

Worcestershire County Council

Agenda
Corporate Parenting Board

Wednesday, 27 November 2019, 2.00 pm
Wyre Forest House, Kidderminster

mailto:democraticServices@worcestershire.gov.uk


DISCLOSING INTERESTS

There are now 2 types of interests:
'Disclosable pecuniary interests' and 'other disclosable interests'

WHAT IS A 'DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST' (DPI)?

 Any employment, office, trade or vocation carried on for profit or gain 
 Sponsorship by a 3rd party of your member or election expenses
 Any contract for goods, services or works between the Council and you, a firm where 

you are a partner/director, or company in which you hold shares
 Interests in land in Worcestershire (including licence to occupy for a month or longer)
 Shares etc (with either a total nominal value above £25,000 or 1% of the total issued 

share capital) in companies with a place of business or land in Worcestershire.

      NB Your DPIs include the interests of your spouse/partner as well as you

WHAT MUST I DO WITH A DPI?
 Register it within 28 days and 
 Declare it where you have a DPI in a matter at a particular meeting 

- you must not participate and you must withdraw.
      NB It is a criminal offence to participate in matters in which you have a DPI

WHAT ABOUT 'OTHER DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS'?
 No need to register them but
 You must declare them at a particular meeting where:

 You/your family/person or body with whom you are associated have 
a pecuniary interest in or close connection with the matter under discussion.

WHAT ABOUT MEMBERSHIP OF ANOTHER AUTHORITY OR PUBLIC BODY?
You will not normally even need to declare this as an interest. The only exception is where the 
conflict of interest is so significant it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest.

DO I HAVE TO WITHDRAW IF I HAVE A DISCLOSABLE INTEREST WHICH ISN'T A DPI?
Not normally. You must withdraw only if it:

 affects your pecuniary interests OR 
relates to a planning or regulatory matter

 AND it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

DON'T FORGET
 If you have a disclosable interest at a meeting you must disclose both its existence 

and nature – 'as noted/recorded' is insufficient   
 Declarations must relate to specific business on the agenda 

- General scattergun declarations are not needed and achieve little
 Breaches of most of the DPI provisions are now criminal offences which may be 

referred to the police which can on conviction by a court lead to fines up to £5,000 
and disqualification up to 5 years

  Formal dispensation in respect of interests can be sought in appropriate cases.

Simon Mallinson Head of Legal and Democratic Services July 2012       WCC/SPM summary/f



Agenda produced and published by Simon Mallinson, Head of Legal and Democratic Services, County Hall, 
Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP

To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda contact Kate Griffiths, Committee Officer,  on 01905 
846630, KGriffiths@worcestershire.gov.uk

Date of Issue: Tuesday, 19 November 2019

Corporate Parenting Board
Wednesday, 27 November 2019, 2.00 pm, Wyre Forest House, 
Kidderminster

Membership: Andy Roberts 
(Chairman)

Cabinet Member with Responsibility for 
Children and Families

Rob Adams Wychavon District Council 

Julian Grubb Redditch Borough Council

Helen Dyke Wyre Forest District Council 

Pattie Hill Worcestershire County Council

Lucy Hodgson Worcestershire County Council

Charlie Hotham Worcestershire County Council

Mike Johnson Worcester City Council

Fran Oborski Worcestershire County Council

Jane Potter Worcestershire County Council

Margaret Sherrey Bromsgrove District Council

Tom Wells Malvern Hills District Council

Agenda
Item No Subject Page No

1 Apologies

2 Confirmation of the Minutes 1 - 6

3 Review of Previous Action Points

4 Accommodation for Care Leavers
The attached report was presented at the meeting of the Corporate 
Parenting Board on 8 October.

7 - 8

5 Annual Report
The Annual Report will be a film and presentation undertaken at a 
special launch event in December. All the young people, their carers and 



Item No Subject Page No

their allocated workers who were part of the film will be invited, as well 
as all Corporate Parenting Board members.

6 Work Plan 9 - 10

7 Future Meeting Dates
6 February 2020 – Guildhall Worcester
30 April 2020
4 June 2020
9 July 2020
8 October 2020 – Redditch Borough Council
10 November 2020



Date of Issue: 23 October 2014

Page No.  1

Corporate Parenting Board
Tuesday, 8 October 2019, County Hall, Worcester - 2.00 pm

Minutes 

Present: Mr A C Roberts (Chairman), Mrs J A Brunner, Charles E-
P, Mrs L C Hodgson, Dr C Hotham, Mr M Johnson, 
Mrs F M Oborski and Mrs J A Potter

Also attended: Sally Branchflower, Alison Brill, Celena Rossano, 
Selina Rawicz, Sarah Dempsey

195 Apologies and 
Declaration of 
Interests

Apologies had been received from Rob Adams, Helen 
Dyke, Pattie Hill and Margaret Sherrey.

Sarah Dempsey, Deputy Designated Safeguarding Nurse 
attended for Ellen Footman.

Juliet Brunner declared an Interest in that a member of 
her extended family had had contact with Children’s 
services.

196 Confirmation of 
the Minutes

The minutes of the previous meeting on 13 June 2019 
were agreed to be an accurate record of the meeting and 
were signed by the Chairman.

197 Review of 
Previous Action 
Points

Keep in Touch Visits
Tina Russell explained that the Keep in Touch visits, 
which had been scheduled for the week of 15-19 July 
and had replaced one of the Board meetings, had been 
designed to allow Members to take part in a range of 
activities which would allow them to better understand 
the lives of Looked after Children or Care Leavers. It had 
been disappointing that so few members had participated 
in the visits. 

District Councils hosting future meetings
It had been suggested that some future meetings be held 
in the various districts. The normal agenda items would 
be dealt with but meetings could have a particular focus 
dependent on the interests of the District Councillors or 
issues pertinent to the area. The November meeting 
would be held in Wyre Forest and would have a focus on 
housing.

Corporate Parenting Fair - 31 October 2019 in the 
Council Chamber
The event had been planned by Tom Baker-Price who 

Page 1



Page No.  2

worked with the Children in Care Council and Speak Out. 
There would be workshops on various subjects as well as 
an information market place so people could drop in.

District Activity Events
Following on from events which had taken place in 
previous years, a task and finish group had been set up 
to raise the profile of the events and re-launch the idea 
with County Councillors. The Vice Chairman explained 
that he and Alison Brill had met and come up with some 
possible ideas for events. This list would be sent round to 
all Board Members.

198 The use of Bed 
and Breakfast 
Accommodation

The Chairman explained that a Housing Officer was not 
able to attend the meeting and consideration had been 
given as to whether the item on the use of bed and 
breakfast accommodation should be deferred, but it had 
been decided that the item was too important and a 
response could be received from the Housing Officers at 
the next meeting.

Selina Rawitz explained that 17 young people had been 
placed in bed and breakfast accommodation in the past 
year – although none of those were under the age of 18. 
There were complex reasons as to why these 
placements had been made but members of the 
Corporate Parenting Board were being asked to give 
their support to ensure that options were available for 
young people so that bed and breakfast accommodation 
would not be necessary.

The reasons that it can be hard to find young people 
more suitable accommodation could include:

 Significant offending behaviours
 Violence or sexual offending
 Anti-social or aggressive behaviour
 Substantial substance misuse
 Mental health problems or personality disorders 

which meant the young person did not want to 
engage 

 Not wanting to move somewhere else to live or 
move away from a particular area

 Not wanting communal or joint living 
arrangements

 Poor money management – although workers can 
now offer support in this area to young people up 
to the age of 25

 Prior evictions with young people becoming 
labelled as intentionally homeless

Page 2



Page No.  3

 A narrowing of options once sequential 
placements had proved unsuitable

At present 2 young people were in bed and breakfast 
accommodation.
Rhys Davies gave an example of the sort of complex 
situation which could lead to a care leaver becoming 
homeless.

In the ensuing discussion the following points were 
made:

 The Countywide scheme ‘prevention of eviction’ 
was being developed by Partners

 It was queried whether not using any bed and 
breakfast accommodation was actually 
achievable, but it was argued that it was, as other 
local authorities had achieved it; although it was a 
complex issue which was only partly due to a lack 
of resources

 There was a concern that once young people 
reach 25 they do not have anyone to offer them 
support 

 The need for investment in early intervention was 
recognised in order to stop difficult situations 
arising in the first place

 It was queried whether it was possible to build a 
solution and whether that solution should be one 
unit for the County or whether each District 
needed its own building

 A cultural shift was needed along with a joint focus 
from all partners so that all Corporate Parents 
could be clear that bed and breakfast 
accommodation was not acceptable. Existing 
provision also needed to be effectively utilised

 It was pointed out that Worcester City was buying 
property in order to help the situation 

 It was suggested that other Districts needed to 
take action along with the Safeguarding 
Partnerships, housing providers and the Voluntary 
Sector

RESOLVED that the Corporate Parenting Board 
would continue to progress the discussion around 
the issue of housing provision for Care Leavers at its 
next meeting in Wyre Forest to which Housing 
Representatives from each District had been invited.

199 Ofsted Update Tina Russell updated Board members about the 
Inspection of Children’s Services. In January 2016 the 
Authority was found to be ‘Overall Inadequate’; however, 

Page 3



Page No.  4

by July 2019 the ‘considerable progress in improving the 
quality of services’ was recognised and there was a 
strengthened workforce and Senior Leaders and elected 
Members were ambitious and committed to the well-
being, safety and outcomes for children in the County.

Headlines from the inspection were:
 Children were brought into care where necessary; 
 Assessments were timely and comprehensive 
 The majority of children were settled in 

placements and moved into permanency in a 
timely way. 

 Reviews were well chaired by IROs 
 Supervisors understood the needs of the children 

and worked well with foster carers and adoption 
agencies

 Personal Advisors built positive relationships with 
young people and encouraged them to achieve in 
education and employment

 Each young person had their own care plan but 
the needs of sibling groups were considered

 Long term stability had improved and 
consolidation meetings were held to provide 
support and challenge rather than an automatic 
acceptance of a placement breakdown

Tina went through the areas that inspectors had identified 
could be worked on to move us to a “good” service.

Tina told the Board that Inspectors noted that “in some 
cases, a small minority” of the plans and assessments 
and quality wasn’t there yet for all children, all the time 
and getting consistency was a key area for continued 
service improvement.

Plans for our Edge of Care were explained and 
Inspectors said plans looked good but they could not 
make a judgement on them as they were not yet in place. 

Assessments by the Homeless Intervention team needed 
to be more fully evidenced and although there were 
favourable comments regarding the consolidation 
meetings they were told that young people could be 
asked how things could be done better.

There was a commitment to continuous improvement by 
providing support and guidance to allow a young person 
to gain independence and transition to adulthood; work 
would continue with the Districts and housing providers to 
increase the availability of suitable accommodation and 
work was needed to engage with health services to 

Page 4



Page No.  5

improve the mental health services for children in care to 
get them recognised as the most vulnerable and allow 
them to become priorities.

The Service Business Plan was explained; it showed 
areas for improvement, projects and areas of innovation 
which all relied on the four key pillars of Senior Leaders, 
workforce and culture, Worcestershire Safeguarding 
Children Partnership and Inspections. 

It was explained that Worcestershire would no longer 
have inspection visits every 12 weeks but they would 
have focussed inspections and there was a strong 
possibility that they would receive a Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection which would specifically look at Children’s 
emotional health and well-being. A Task and Finish 
Group had been set up to prepare for a possible 
inspection.

It was commented that:
 mental health should be a priority but it would rely 

on joint working with partners
 it appeared that some of the targets in the KPIs 

were not being achieved – it was explained that 
progress had been made and the targets set were 
very high to drive best practice

 The issue of Children’s emotional health and well-
being was also being considered by the Children’s 
and Families Scrutiny Panel, the Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the Health and Well-
being Board.

RESOLVED that the Corporate Parenting Board 
noted this update following the Ofsted Inspection 
Visit. 

200 Quarter 1 
2019/20 Data

Corporate Parenting Board Members were encouraged 
to take the data back to their areas. It was discussed 
whether it was possible to drill down into the information 
for individual ward areas but it was pointed out that the 
Board’s remit was more of a strategic view of Looked 
After Children in the County and there was a danger that 
individuals could be identified if more information was 
provided.

201 Work Plan The work plan was noted.

202 Future Meeting 
Dates

The next meeting would be held on 27 November at 2pm 
at Wyre Forest District Council.

Page 5



Page No.  6

Dates 2020
 
6 February 2020
30 April 2020
4 June 2020
9 July 2020
8 October 2020
10 November 2020

The meeting ended at 3.55pm

Chairman …………………………………………….

Page 6



AGENDA ITEM 4 

Corporate Parenting Board 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD
27 NOVEMBER 2019
(Originally presented at the meeting on 8 October 2019)

YOUNG PEOPLE PLACED IN BED AND BREAKFAST 
ACCOMMODATION 

Recommendation

1. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to:

a) Note the use of bed and breakfast accommodation; and 
b) Support the districts to make appropriate accommodation available for 

all care leavers county wide, even those young people who are deemed 
as vulnerable, complex and therefore seen as ‘high risk’.

Background

2. It is recognised within our Joint Protocol with the housing districts that Bed and 
Breakfast (B&B) accommodation is not an appropriate accommodation option for 
Care Leavers, however, there are circumstances under which it continues to be 
used; often to prevent street homelessness where there is no other accessible 
option.  This being said we are working very closely with housing to monitor and 
reduce the use of B&B.  It was recognised during the most recent Ofsted inspection 
that this needed closer monitoring and steps have been implemented to this end to 
review use on a weekly basis and to incorporate this information into the CPB data 
set. 

3. As Corporate Parents we need to strengthen pathways and processes to ensure 
that all care leavers have appropriate housing into the future. 

4. A review of the 17 young people that used B&B during 2018/19 has been 
undertaken to see where we might identify areas to improve our practice and/or offer. 

5. These have all been over the age of 18 years of age as before that they are 
managed via the 16&17 young person’s protocol and no under 18 years have been 
placed in B&B.  

Themes identified from thematic audit of 17 Care Leavers who progressed to 
B&B June 2018-2019 

6. Some of the common presenting behaviours which are associated with 
progression to homelessness and an offer of B&B are:

Page 7



Corporate Parenting Board 

 Significant offending behaviours (including fire setting and violent or sexual 
offending

 Anti-social, destructive or aggressive behaviours (including assaults on 
professionals)

 Significant unaddressed substance misuse e.g. injecting or other class A use
 Significant mental-ill health and / or personality disorder
 Low engagement with support offered
 Refusal (often understandably) to go beyond familiar area / out of county
 Refusal of communal or supported accommodation options such as Nightstop
 Poor money management leading to arrears / loss of universal credit or sanctions
 Prior evictions leading to ‘Intentionally Homeless’ decisions / Housing duty 

discharged 
 Sequential narrowing of options available to Housing Officers - lack of alternative 

provision 

What we need your help with:
 A county-wide Prevention of Eviction process – Social landlords and providers 

need to notify Housing Officers and PAs swiftly where concerns arise to allow 
assertive intervention to, where possible, prevent progression to eviction.

 A better pathway for our care leavers to access adult mental health service; this 
is incorporated into our service Business and Development Plan.  

 The identification and development of more accommodation across 
Worcestershire so that Housing officers and Young Person’s Pathway Workers 
have robust and supported accommodation options for care leavers who are 
vulnerable or present complex or risky behaviours and who are at risk of eviction 
and homelessness.

Contact Points

Selina Rawicz 
Group Manager – Through Care Services
Children, Families & Communities, Worcestershire County Council
SRawicz@worcestershire.gov.uk
Tel: 01905 845916

Rhys Davies
Team Manager
Care Leavers Service (South), Worcestershire County Council
RDavies4@worcestershire.gov.uk
Tel: 01905 845613

Page 8



AGENDA ITEM 6 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD
WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

Agenda Item Lead

6 February 2020 
(Reports by 22 January)

Serious Case Reviews Dan Adams/Tina Russell

Placements and Sufficiency Adam Johnson 

30 April 2020 
(Reports by 15 April)

Looked After Children – Speak Out / Who Care We 
Care - Annual Report 

New Manager TBC

Care Leavers – Annual Report  Selina Rawicz

4 June 2020 
(Reports by 19 May)

Virtual School Annual Report Gwen Fennell

Annual Report – Carers, including placements and 
Foster Care Recruitment

Laurie Mo Gullachsen 

9 July 2020 
(Reports by 24 June)

IRO Annual Report Sally Branchflower

8 October 2020 
(Reports by 23 September)

Children with disabilities and SEND  Sarah Wilkins/Tina Russell

Transition between children’s and adult’s services Louise Levette / Jill Hughes

Page 9



AGENDA ITEM 6 

10 November 2020 
(Reports by 26 October)

Serious Case Reviews Tina Russell

Standing Items

Quarterly Data reports

Items for work programme?
 Virtual school post 16

Page 10


	Agenda
	2 Confirmation of the Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Accommodation for Care Leavers
	6 Work Plan

